
Health and Social Care Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

Thursday, 20 November 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

09.45 

 

For further information please contact:  

Llinos Madeley 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8403 

HSCCommittee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

At its meeting on 12 November 2014 the Committee resolved under Standing Order 

17.42(ix) to exclude the public for item 1 of the meeting on 20 November 2014. 

1 The Committee's forward work programme (09.45 - 10.15) (Pages 1 - 

3) 

2 Introductions, apologies and substitutions (10.15)  

3 Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

2014: factual briefing from Welsh Government officials (10.15 - 11.15) 

(Pages 4 - 20)  

Margaret Provis, Deputy Director Social Services Strategy Leadership and 

Improvement 

Alistair Davey, Deputy Director, Delivering Policy for Children & Adults 

Anthony Jordan, Head of Sustainable Social Services Implementation 

Mike Lubienski, Senior Lawyer, Social Care Team 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Supporting documents 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

Consultation on the regulations and code of practice in relation to Part 2 of the Act 

Consultation on the Regulations and code of practice in relation to Part 3 

(Assessment) and Part 4 (Meeting Needs) 

Consultation on the Regulations and statutory guidance in relation to part 7 

(Safeguarding) of the Act 

Consultation on the Regulations and code of practice in relation to part 11 of the 

Act. 

Break (11.15 - 11.30) 

4 Post-legislative scrutiny of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010: 

Ministerial scrutiny session (11.30 - 12.30) (Pages 21 - 67)  

Mark Drakeford AM, Minister for Health and Social Services 

 

Dr Sarah Watkins, Head of Mental Health & Vulnerable Groups Division / Senior 

Medical Officer 

Andrea Gray, Mental Health Legislation Manager 

5 Papers to note (12.30)  

 

Scrutiny of the Minister for Health and Social Services and the Deputy Minister for 

Health: additional information from the Minister for Health and Social Services  (Page 

68) 

 

 

General scrutiny session with the Chief Medical Officer: additional information from 

the Chief Medical Officer  (Page 69) 

 

 

Inquiry into the NHS complaints process: additional information from the Minister for 

Health and Social Services  (Pages 70 - 71) 

 

 

The Committee's forward work programme  (Pages 72 - 75) 

 



6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(vi) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting (12.30)  

7 Post-legislative scrutiny of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010: 

consideration of evidence received (12.30 - 12.45)  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 1By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 4

Agenda Item 3 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



REPORT TO THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE COMMITTEE - 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELL-BEING 

(WALES) ACT 2014. 

Background 

1. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act1 received Royal 
Assent on 1st May 2014. Its purpose is to specify the core legislative 
framework for social services and social care in Wales, giving effect to 
the policy stated in the White Paper Sustainable Social Services for 
Wales: A Framework for Action2. The Act will transform the way social 
services are delivered through an approach that is focused on 
achieving the outcomes necessary to promote a person‟s well-being - 
as an individual, as part of a family and as part of their community. 

 
2. To do this it requires that people have access to clear information, 

advice and assistance and that their voice is placed at the centre of 
decisions about their care and support. The Act introduces a strong 
statutory framework for the protection of adults, and national leadership 
arrangements for safeguarding people. It also recognises both the key 
role played by carers, through giving them rights to support which are 
equivalent to the rights of those they care for, and also the importance 
of prevention and early intervention to help people live independently. 

 
3. While the core components of the new legislative framework are set 

out on the face of the Act, the Act is enabling in nature and will require 
the Welsh Ministers to make a suite of subordinate legislation, as well 
as issue codes of practice and guidance, to fill in the details of the new 
system and support its implementation.  
 

4. Implementation is being taken forward in line with an implementation 
handling plan, dealing with the approach to consulting upon and laying 
of regulations and codes of practice, agreed by the Deputy Minister for 
Social Services. The broad approach was the subject of a Ministerial 
Statement on 16 July 20143. Ministers have agreed that the Act should 
come into force from April 2016. 

  

                                                           
1
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/enacted 

2
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/guidance1/services/?lang=en 

3 http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2014/sswellbeing/?lang=en 

 

Pack Page 10

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/enacted
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/guidance1/services/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2014/sswellbeing/?lang=en


 
Implementation: timetable for subordinate legislation to be made under 
the Act 
 

5. Laying of the regulations and codes of practice is being phased, with a 
first tranche of regulations (with their associated codes of practice 
and/or statutory guidance) to be consulted upon for twelve weeks from 
November 2014 to January 2015. Two consultation events, one in 
North Wales and one in South Wales, will take place to support this 
consultation. The regulations as amended following this consultation 
will then be laid before the Assembly in May 2015. This tranche 
includes the regulations on eligibility under section 32 of the Act. 
 

6. A second tranche of regulations will be consulted upon in the summer 
of 2015, and laid, alongside the full suite of codes, before the Assembly 
in November 2015.  

 

7. Full explanatory memoranda and regulatory impact assessments will 
be laid alongside the regulations in their respective tranches.  

 
8. This timetable will deliver full implementation of the Act and allow it to 

come into force in April 2016.  
 

High Level ‘Tranche’ Timetable  

 

 
9. A consolidated statement of policy intent for the major pieces of 

subordinate legislation under the Act was published on 30 January 
2014 and has been used to form the basis of the development of 
regulations, statutory guidance and codes of practice to underpin the 
Act.  

 
10. The core provisions within tranche 1 relate to eligibility, assessment, 

care and support planning and direct payments in parts 2 to 4 of the 
Act, together with safeguarding (part 7) and prisoners and ordinary 
residence in part 11. This tranche consists of 13 sets of regulations 

Pack Page 11



(listed at annex A), four codes of practice, and one statutory guidance 
document. The timings of this tranche have been set to support the 
making of the legislative framework around these key provisions in 
summer 2015, thus giving the social care and health sectors time to 
adjust to the new requirements ahead of implementation in April 2016. 
 

11. Tranche 2, dealing principally with the framework for implementing 
provisions around paying for care in part 5 of the Act, and looked-after 
and accommodated children in part 6, is to be consulted on in the 
summer of 2015, with a view to laying the regulations, together with the 
codes of practice for the whole Act, in November 2015. 

 
Implementation: developing the subordinate legislation to be made 
under the Act 

 
12. Recognising the importance of the technical expertise of the sector 

during the development of the Regulations and Codes of Practice for 
consultation, officials leading the development of policy across tranche 
1 established Technical Groups, whilst advisory input in relation to 
safeguarding was provided by the Safeguarding Advisory Panel4. 
These groups provided the relevant expertise to inform the detailed 
development of policy instructions for regulations and the content of the 
Codes of Practice and statutory guidance.  Over two hundred people 
across local government, the NHS, private care providers and the third 
sector were engaged in this work, with a view to securing a wide 
spread of engagement and expertise. Copies of the reports of a 
number of these technical groups can be found on the Welsh 
Government website5. 

 
13. Members of the technical groups were brought together in a 

stakeholder event, held on 11 September 2014 at the University of 
Glyndwr, Wrexham. This event looked specifically at the issue of 
coherence across the developing legislative framework to inform the 
package put forward for consultation. 

 
14. Officials leading the development of policy across tranche 2 of the 

regulations and codes of practice have commenced forming Technical 
Groups or other engagement mechanisms to inform the development 
and finalisation of policy.  
 

Integration of Health and Social Services 
 

15. The Act seeks to promote integration between health and social 
services. It has been developed through close working with NHS 
colleagues and with the active involvement of the national Partnership 
Forum and Leadership Group, both of which include representatives of 
the health sector in Wales.  

                                                           
4
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/reports/advisory/?lang=en 

5
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/act/resources/draft-regulations/?lang=en 

Pack Page 12

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/reports/advisory/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/act/resources/draft-regulations/?lang=en


 
16. A focus on integration and joint working is specifically enshrined in 

Section 165 of the Act, which requires Health Boards and NHS Trusts 
to cooperate with and provide information to local authorities, when 
requested, to enable them to exercise their social services functions.  
 

17. In addition, there are a number of duties expressly placed upon Local 
Health Boards and NHS Trusts by the Act. These relate to fields such 
as population and individual assessment and planning, the provision of 
information, advice and assistance, safeguarding and collaboration and 
co-operation itself. These duties are listed at annex B to this paper. 

 
Financial implications and support for implementation 
 

18. The Regulatory Impact Assessment (and the Explanatory 
Memorandum of which it forms part) in relation to the Act was agreed 
by the previous Deputy Minister for Social Services and the First 
Minister and published as part of the Explanatory Memorandum on the 
Bill on introduction on 28 January 2013. A revised version was laid on 
28 January 2014, after the conclusion of stage 2. The National 
Assembly for Wales agreed the Financial Resolution of the Bill on 8 
October 2013.  
 

19. The detailed financial implications of implementing the regulations will 
be set out in the Regulatory Impact Assessments for the individual sets 
of regulations, developed to support the scrutiny process. This position 
is consistent with the Explanatory Memorandum as revised at stage 2. 
We will be seeking information to inform these assessments as part of 
the consultation process.  
 

20. As outlined in the 29 January Cabinet written statement on 
implementation6, a grant of £1.5 million has been made available to 
local government and partners including Local Health Boards and the 
Welsh NHS Confederation to support implementation activity in 2014-
15.  

 

21. This grant builds upon that provided in 2013-14 but has been tailored 
further to drive implementation activity in the regions.  

 

22. The chosen regional delivery footprint for sustainable social services is 
coterminous with the Local Health Board footprint and is intended to 
drive collaboration between the Local Health Board and local 
authorities in its footprint area to achieve the aims of Sustainable 
Social Services. To reinforce this collaboration, the terms of the 2014-
15 grant include the requirement to develop regional governance which 
reflects the national steering and engagement structure7 of (political) 

                                                           
6
 http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2014/8414016/?lang=en 

7
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/partnership/?lang=en 

Pack Page 13

http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2014/8414016/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/partnership/?lang=en


Partnership Forum and (executive) Leadership Group. An operational 
structure is to be in place by 31 January 2015. 
 

23. A further key deliverable of the regional grant is the development of a 
comprehensive regional implementation plan by the end of the 2014-15 
financial year.  These plans will be used alongside the response to the 
consultation on tranche 1 in order to inform the identification of any 
additional support needed by the sector to support implementation. 

 

24. Provision is also made for grants at national level to support strategic 
engagement and enable regional delivery.  National grant recipients 
are the Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru and Welsh 
NHS Confederation, and (for the first time) the Health and Social Care 
Alliance and to Care Forum Wales. The latter awards recognise the 
key contribution of the private and voluntary sectors to successful 
implementation.  
 

Support for implementation: communications 
 

25. The “Communicating the Changes” project of the Sustainable Social 
Services for Wales Programme is dedicating a workstream solely to 
implementation, replacing the former Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Bill workstream.  

 

26. Proposals are being explored and collated for a public information 
campaign to be delivered during 2015-16, and communications 
planning for the remainder of this year includes a variety of targeted 
activity directed at local authority, independent care provider and NHS 
staff, together with stakeholders and with citizens. The key messages 
of Sustainable Social Services will continue to be disseminated through 
the range of existing channels, and those set up as part of the 
communications project. 

 

Support for implementation: training 
 

27. Training requirements for implementation are being captured under the 
Strong and Confident Delivery Team (workforce) project within the 
Sustainable Social Services Programme.  A first level training 
programme for all core staff and partner agencies, including the NHS, 
involved in delivering the Act is currently being designed.  This will be 
produced as a ready to use „pack‟, with a framework for delivery, and a 
programme to train trainers to deliver this pack will be put in place.  We 
expect this first wave of training to commence this financial year, with 
local authorities having a lead role in planning and delivering the 
training with their partners in line with the expectations of their role in 
the Social Care Workforce Development Programme. 

 

28. Alongside this, work is in hand to ensure that current training and 
qualifications are appropriately aligned to the Act as well as further 

Pack Page 14



development of bespoke training packages to support particular 
elements of the Act.  These will be made available during 2015-16. 

 

29. Officials are progressing this work in full partnership with key 
stakeholders including Care Council for Wales, university partners and 
local authorities, supported by the development of an overall plan to 
co-ordinate this activity. 

 
The implementation project: governance 

30. An Implementation Project and Board have been set up under the 
Sustainable Social Services for Wales programme to steer 
implementation-related activity within the Welsh Government. The 
project focuses on managing the development, consultation upon, and 
enactment of the package of subordinate legislation and supporting 
Codes of Practice arising from the Act and maintains links with key 
implementation-related activity being led elsewhere in the Programme. 
 

  

Pack Page 15



 
Annex A 

 
Making of the legislative framework under the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014 – Tranche 1 

Tranche 1 Key Timings 

Consultation      November 2014 for 12 weeks 

Regulations laid before the NAfW   May 2015 

Plenary debates on affirmative regulations June-July 2015 

CIF       April 2016 

  

Type of 
instrument 

 
Relevant Part 
of Act   

 
Section 
issued 
under 
 

 
Subject 

Title (proposed) 
 
Procedure 

Regulations 2 
 
(General 
Functions) 

14 
 

Assessment of 
needs for care, 
and support for 
carers and 
preventative 
services  
 

The Care and Support 
(population assessment 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 
 

Negative 

Regulations 2 16 
 

Promoting social 
enterprises 
 

The Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 (Social Enterprise, 
Co-operative and Third 
Sector) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Affirmative 

Code of 

practice 

2 145 Well-being, 

Population 

Assessment, 

Prevention, 

Promotion of 

Social 

Enterprises and 

Provision of 

Information, 

Advice and 

Assistance  

 

 

Code of Practice and 
guidance on the exercise of 
social services functions 
and partnership 
arrangements in relation to 
part 2 (General Functions) 
of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 

As set out in S.146 
(special) 

Regulations 3 
 
(Assessing the 
needs of 
individuals)  
 

30 
 

Regulations 
about 
assessment 
 

The Care and Support 
(Assessment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Negative 

Pack Page 16



Code of 

practice 

3 145 Assessing the 

needs of 

individuals 

 

 

Code of Practice on the 
exercise of social services 
functions in relation to part 
3 (Assessing the needs of 
individuals) of the Social 
Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 

As set out in S.146 
(special) 

Regulations 4  
 
(Meeting 
needs) 

32 
 

Determination of 
eligibility and 
consideration of 
what to do to 
meet needs 
 

The Care and Support 
(Eligibility) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Super Affirmative  

Regulations  4 50,51,52,53 
 

Direct Payments  The Care and Support 
(Direct Payments) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Negative  
 

Regulations  4 
 

54(5) and 55 
 

Care and support 
plans and support 
plans  

The Care and Support 
(Care Planning) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Negative  

Code of 

practice 

4 145 eligibility, care 

and support 

planning and 

direct payments 

Code of Practice on the 

exercise of social services 

functions in relation to part 

4 (Meeting needs) of the 

Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014 

As set out in S.146 

(special) 

Regulations 7 
 
(Safeguarding) 
 
 

127(9) 
 

Officers 
authorised to 
apply for Adult 
Protection and 
Support Orders  
 

The Adult Protection and 
Support Orders  
(Authorised Officer) 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 

Affirmative  

Regulations 7 133 
 

Regulations 
about the 
National Board 
 

National Independent 
Safeguarding Board 
Regulations 2015 

Negative  

Regulations 7 134(1), (3) 
and (6) 
135(4), 
136(3), 138 
and 139 
 
 

Prescribing areas 
for new 
Safeguarding 
Boards and 
related matters 
concerning Board 
operations  

The Safeguarding Boards 
(Functions and Procedures)  
(Wales) Regulations 2015 
 
The Safeguarding Boards 
(General) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Negative 
 
135(4) - Affirmative 

Statutory 

Guidance 

7 131 and 139 Adult Protection 
and Support 
Orders,  the duty 
to report and 
enquire, 
Safeguarding 
Boards and the 
National 

Statutory guidance in 
relation to part 7 
(Safeguarding) of the 
Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014 

None 
 
(Requirement to 
consult Secretary of 
State in relation to 
guidance given 
under s.131) 

Pack Page 17



Independent 
Safeguarding 
Board 

Regulations  9 
 
(Co-operation 
and 
partnership)  
 

166 Partnership 
arrangements  
 

The Care and Support 
(Partnership arrangement 
for population assessments 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 
 

Affirmative  

Regulations  11 
 
(Miscellaneous 
and General) 
 

194 and 195 
 

Ordinary 
residence and 
disputes about 
ordinary 
residence 
   

The Care and Support 
(Ordinary Residence) 
(Specified Accommodation) 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 

The Care and Support 
(Disputes about Ordinary 
Residence, etc.) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015 

Negative  

Code of 

practice 

11 145 Adults and 
Children in 
prison, youth 
detention 
accommodation 
and bail 
accommodation, 
and Ordinary 
Residence 

Code of Practice on the 
exercise of social services 
functions in relation to part 
11 (Miscellaneous and 
General) of the Social 
Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 

As set out in S.146 
(special) 

 

Pack Page 18



The key elements of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act which relate to health 
or the provision of healthcare are set out in 
the following paragraphs.

Section 14: The assessment of needs 
for care and support, support for 
carers and preventative services
This requires respective local authorities 
and Local Health Boards to jointly assess 
the extent to which there are people 
who need care and support, or carers who 
need support. They should also assess the 
extent to which needs are not being met, 
and the range and level of services required 
to meet need.

This section also ensures that this population 
assessment is taken into account as part of 
broader integrated planning frameworks. 

Section 15: Preventative services
This requires local authorities to provide 
services designed to prevent, delay or reduce 
needs for care and support. Local Health 
Boards are required to have regard to the 
importance of achieving these preventative 
purposes when exercising their functions.

Section 17: Provision of 
information, advice and assistance
A Local Health Board or an NHS trust is 
required to provide the local authority with 
information about the care and support it 
provides in the respective local authority area.

Section 29: Combining needs 
assessments and other assessments
A local authority may carry out a needs 
assessment for a person at the same time 
as it, or another body, carries out another 
assessment. The local authority may carry out 
the other assessment on behalf of, or jointly 
with, another body (for example the Local 
Health Board or NHS trust).

Section 47: Exception for provision 
of health services
This section specifies that local authorities 
cannot provide or arrange services or facilities 
that would be required under the NHS (Wales) 
2006 Act or the NHS Act 2006, unless doing 
so would be incidental or ancillary to other 
actions within the local authority’s powers.

Section 128 and 130: Duty to report 
adults or children at risk
This section requires Local Health Boards 
and NHS trusts (as relevant partners) 
to inform local authorities if they have 
reasonable cause to suspect an adult or 
child is at risk. 

Section 134: Safeguarding Children 
Boards and Safeguarding Adults 
Boards
This section relates to the establishment 
of Safeguarding Children Boards and 
Safeguarding Adults Boards. Regulations 

IMPLICATIONS OF THE  
SOCIAL SERVICES AND  
WELL-BEING (WALES) ACT  
FOR THE NHS IN WALES

Pack Page 19



will set out those areas in Wales where 
there will be Safeguarding Boards and the 
respective Local Health Boards and NHS 
trusts will be partners and therefore will 
have representatives on the Boards.

Sections 162-169: Co-operation, 
integration of care and support 
and partnership arrangements
Part 9 of the Act relates to co-operation 
and partnership. Section 162 requires local 
authorities to make arrangements with 
their respective partners, which include 
Health Boards and NHS trusts, to promote 
co-operation. This co-operation is required 
in relation to adults with needs for care 
and support, and adults who are carers. 
This includes improving well-being, quality 
of care and support and protecting adults 
at risk of abuse or neglect.

Section 163 makes amendments to 
the Children Act 2004 and sets out 
arrangements for the local authority to 
promote co-operation with their relevant 
partners, including Health Boards and NHS 
trusts. This includes improving well-being, 
quality of care and support and protecting 
children at risk of abuse, neglect or other 
kinds of harm.

Section 164 requires Health Boards and 
NHS trusts to cooperate with and provide 
information to local authorities, when 
requested, to enable them to exercise their 
social services functions.

Section 166 enables regulations to be 
developed to specify the partnership 
arrangements between local authorities 
and Health Boards. Regulations will make 
provision to specify which local authorities 
and Health Boards should have partnership 
arrangements, the form of the partnership 
arrangements and the operation and 
management of these arrangements, 
including information sharing.

Section 167 provides for regulation to 
enable local authorities and Health Boards 
to pay towards any expenditure incurred in 
relation to partnership arrangements under 
section 166. This could include making 

payments directly or by contributing to 
a pooled fund. A local authority and a Health 
Board may also provide staff, goods, services, 
accommodation or other resources in 
connection with partnership arrangements. 
Regulations can make provisions which 
require a pooled fund to be established, 
for determining the contributions to be 
made by partners to the pooled fund, 
for expenditure in relation to posts, services, 
administration or any other costs related to 
partnership arrangements.

Section 168 provides regulation making 
power to establish partnership boards, 
in relation to partnership arrangements. 
The regulations make provision to specify 
the membership of partnership boards 
(including Health Boards), the objectives, 
functions and procedures, the form 
of reports, their content, timing and 
publication.

Section 169 requires Welsh Ministers to 
issue and periodically revise guidance 
about partnership working in relation 
to section 166. This will apply to partners, 
which includes local authorities and Health 
Boards. The guidance will also apply to 
a team or person carrying out partnership 
arrangements and any partnership boards 
established under section 168.

Section 171: Complaints about 
social services
Section 171 allows for regulations to 
make provision for the consideration of 
complaints relating to services provided by 
local authorities. This includes services under 
section 33 of the National Health Services 
(Wales) Act 2006 or section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006.

Section 180: Independent advocacy 
services for complaints about 
palliative care
Section 180 makes amendments to 
section 187 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 to include reference to 
independent advocacy services for palliative 
care.

© Crown copyright 2014
WG23380

Pack Page 20



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 21

Agenda Item 4By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 
 

1 
 

REPORT TO THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE COMMITTEE- POST 

LEGISLATIVE SCRUTINY OF THE MENTAL HEALTH (WALES) MEASURE 2010. 

Background 

The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 (the Measure)1 is a unique piece of 

legislation. With all party support it was designed to provide a legal framework to 

improve mental health services in Wales. Implementation of the services required by 

the Measure began, on a phased basis, in January 2012.  

Section 48 of the Measure places a duty on the Welsh Ministers to review specific 

sections of the Measure. An Inception Report2 was produced in 2013 which 

described the method proposed to fulfil that function: a collaborative process of 

review which could evolve and develop over time. Stakeholders were invited to 

suggest additions to, or changes in, the proposed evaluation process described for 

each of the Parts 

 

An Interim Report3 produced by Welsh Government was published in April 2014. 

This was primarily designed to note the findings to date and will contribute to the final 

report, for presentation to the National Assembly for Wales, which will be published 

prior to January 2016.  

As with any new legislation some time is required both for the legal requirements to 

become embedded into service provision, and for the vision underpinning it to 

become a reality.  

Creating services which embody empowerment and choice, as well as supporting 

recovery and maximising independence, are essential to creating a respectful 

society that both values, and celebrates, our differences and the contribution of all.  

Encouraging emotional wellbeing, placing the importance of mental health on a par 

with physical health, providing effective and helpful services at an early stage, as 

well as ensuring those in need of specialist services receive the highest quality of 

care and treatment are central to the delivery of the Measure.  

Further background can be found at Annex 1. 

 

 

                                                           
1
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2010/7/contents 

 
2
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en 

 
3
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en 

 

Pack Page 36

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2010/7/contents
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en


 
 

2 
 

Theme 1 (achievement of stated objectives): 

 

1a. Do primary mental health services now provide better and earlier access to 

assessment and treatment for people of all ages?  Are there any barriers to 

achieving this? 

Before the introduction of Local Primary Mental Health Services (LPMHSS) in 

October 2012, there was no consistent mental health provision available at primary 

care level.  Some local health board areas had limited services available, others had 

none.  Information sought from local health boards during scoping work for the 

Measure regarding the availability and type of services offered was not available in a 

consistent format.  

However, prior to the commencement of LPMHSS, and subsequently, work has 

been undertaken with key stakeholders to develop mechanisms by which both a 

qualitative and quantitative analysis of the services required under the Measure 

could be provided. These included: 

 stock take of compliance with legal requirements of Part 1; 

 quantitative analysis of performance measures developed with Welsh 

Information Standards Board; 

 service user, carer and GP satisfaction surveys; 

 third sector analysis and surveys;  

 independent commissioned research and 

 task and finish group 

The findings were reported in the Interim report, the main findings for Part 1 were: 

 All local health boards and their partners were able to provide evidence they 

were compliant with the legal requirements of Part 1 of the Measure.  

 The majority of service users who had received LPMHSS positively rated the 

service they received.  

 LPMHSSs needed to achieve a balance between undertaking assessments 

and the provision of appropriate and timely interventions.  

 Foundation/Tier 0 level services were providing open access community 

based groups which empower individuals to get support at an early stage.  

 There was some concern that certain practitioners were not allowed to 

undertake LPMHSS assessments. For example non mental health nurses 

working in CAMHS. 

 Work to support GPs and primary care staff in understanding and developing 

knowledge of mental health issues and access to specialist advice remained a 

priority.  

Pack Page 37



 
 

3 
 

 A clear interface and communication process between primary and secondary 

services would be critical to ensure no service users fall through the „gap‟.  

Current quantitative performance information.  

All local health boards submit aggregated performance information to Welsh 

Government on all 4 Parts of the Measure on a monthly basis via data collection 

forms ratified by the Welsh Information Standards Board4.  

Data collection systems across local health boards and local authorities in Wales 

vary significantly from paper based collation of information to comprehensive 

Information Technology system and work has been undertaken to improve the 

quality of the data available.  

In order to support the development of the new LPMHSS, specific targets were set 

under the NHS national delivery framework.  

1. The percentage of assessments undertaken within 28 days from receipt of referral 

against the 80% target waiting time. (56 days until October 2013)   

The graph below shows the number of patients being assessed within 56 days of 

referral, between April 2013 and September 2013, was fairly constant at 89% -91%. 

This target was reduced from 56 days to 28 days in October 2013 and performance 

against this target improved from 53% in October 2013 to 71% in August 2014.  

Between April 2013 and August 2014, 45,900 primary mental health assessments 

were undertaken, on average, 2,700 per month. 

 

                                                           
4
 Welsh Information Standards Board at - http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=1031   

Apr-
13

May
-13

Jun-
13

Jul-
13

Aug-
13

Sep-
13

Oct-
13

Nov
-13

Dec-
13

Jan-
14

Feb-
14

Mar
-14

Apr-
14

May
-14

Jun-
14

Jul-
14

Aug-
14

57 days plus 11% 10% 10% 9% 9% 9% 14% 14% 14% 16% 19% 14% 23% 21% 21% 12% 9%

29-56 days 40% 33% 30% 29% 35% 36% 33% 33% 26% 26% 20% 24% 24% 25% 22% 20% 20%

Up to 28 days 49% 56% 60% 62% 56% 55% 53% 53% 61% 57% 62% 62% 54% 54% 57% 69% 71%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Times Waited for Local Primary Mental Health Assessments - All Wales 

Pack Page 38



 
 

4 
 

Local health boards are now working to achieve a balance between undertaking 

assessments and undertaking timely interventions alongside the other primary 

mental health functions, (onward referral, provision of information to patients, carers 

and primary care staff and support for primary care practitioners) required under the 

Measure. They have agreed to share the details of their services and their action 

plans for improvement with Welsh Government and each other. I am encouraged by 

this spirit of co-operation. 

2.  The percentage of therapeutic interventions started within 56 days following 

assessment.  

 

This indicator assesses the length of time waited for therapeutic interventions, 

whether delivered on an individual or group basis, provided by the local primary 

mental health support services following assessment against the 90% target waiting 

time of 56 calendar days. The total number of interventions provided during the 

period April 2013 to – August 2014 was 21,670, an average of 1,274 per month.  

 

 
 

Following the publication of the Interim report my officials wrote to local health 

boards and local authorities detailing expectations of the enhanced monitoring 

arrangements which would be needed to continue to improve services.  

 

 

 

Apr-
13

May
-13

Jun-
13

Jul-
13

Aug-
13

Sep-
13

Oct-
13

Nov
-13

Dec-
13

Jan-
14

Feb-
14

Mar
-14

Apr-
14

May
-14

Jun-
14

Jul-
14

Aug-
14

57 days plus 15% 15% 18% 15% 20% 15% 15% 14% 13% 18% 17% 17% 15% 14% 15% 17% 18%

29-56 days 25% 22% 25% 19% 23% 25% 17% 20% 25% 29% 21% 19% 18% 17% 17% 19% 20%

Up to 28 days 59% 63% 57% 66% 57% 60% 68% 66% 63% 54% 62% 63% 67% 69% 67% 64% 62%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Times Waited  from Assessment to Theraputic Intervention - All Wales 

Pack Page 39



 
 

5 
 

This will include a revised stock take document developed to specifically consider: 

 The provision of advice, information and training for GP‟s and other primary 

care staff 

 The type, level of training and specific mechanisms needed to enable 

comment of the competency of staff 

 A clearer understanding of Part 1 services being provided to all ages, needs 

and settings, including children and young people and those with a learning 

disability. 

Further developments 

Foundation level/Tier 0 Services 

One of the significant developments over the past 12 months has been the increase 

in the availability of open access groups which help people cope with stress, anxiety 

and depression. For example, in Cwm Taf they have run 32 courses this year, most 

with between 30 and 80 attendees with a completion rate of over 90%. The „ACTion 

for Living‟ course in Cardiff and the Vale developed by Dr Neil Frude has run large 

scale groups in church halls and community centres. These 2 hour sessions provide 

the health board with a way to provide effective therapy in an efficient manner to 

large numbers of people in the community who might be termed a “less severe” 

mental health problem who might not normally be able to access more specialist 

mental health services. 

Barriers 

Providing services within and alongside primary care services has required those 

delivering mental health services to consider a different model and concept of care. 

That model is not a traditional secondary mental health model rather one which 

incorporates key elements of primary care. It was clear close working arrangements 

with GP colleagues was needed to understand these concepts. To support this 

cultural change an All Wales Curriculum for Primary Mental Health Workers5 was 

developed to provide an accredited, flexible and transferable education programme. 

It standardised the knowledge and skills required by Primary Mental Health Workers 

and is recognised nationally.  

 

It is of note, whilst there are improvements that need to be made; (particularly in 

relation to access to psychological therapies) that engagement with GPs has 

improved. For example, in Aneurin Bevan Local Health Board over half their GPs 

responded to a LPMHSS satisfaction survey and of those over 84% positively 

rated(strongly or partly agree) the service they were receiving from the LPMHSS. 

                                                           
5
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.weds.wales.nhs.uk/opendoc/215610&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s

&sa=U&ei=FZBHVIzlMcSV7AbRxIDgCA&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNG5aKj61Qjo5EuNS1EbQU1oe7mrYQ 
 

Pack Page 40

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.weds.wales.nhs.uk/opendoc/215610&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=FZBHVIzlMcSV7AbRxIDgCA&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNG5aKj61Qjo5EuNS1EbQU1oe7mrYQ
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.weds.wales.nhs.uk/opendoc/215610&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=FZBHVIzlMcSV7AbRxIDgCA&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNG5aKj61Qjo5EuNS1EbQU1oe7mrYQ


 
 

6 
 

 

The LPMHSS is developing well; however, given the variation across Wales in terms 

of services preparedness to provide the new service, it has taken some services 

longer than others to develop clear referral pathways. The ability of services to meet 

demand in the current climate of economic austerity will continue to be challenging. 

However, this has been materially assisted by the creativity and flexibility of teams in 

offering this service. This has varied from telephone assessment and intervention, 

which can be particularly helpful for those living significant distances from their GPs, 

to evidenced group work and individual therapy. Supporting individuals to use 

community resources will continue to be crucial to these endeavours. 

 

Practitioners‟ eligibility to undertake LPMHSS assessments was prescribed in 

subordinate legislation; specifically, that the practitioners who could undertake 

holistic mental health assessments, which would also involve an assessment of risk, 

were required to be from specific regulated professions, as well as  having 

evidenced competence to provide that service.  

 

There have been suggestions from some sectors that the eligibility criterion has been 

too prescriptive; particularly from those who provide services for children and young 

people. Ensuring staff have the knowledge and skills to provide inclusive, effective 

and safe assessments for children and young people are essential. It underpins our 

work to improve CAMHS provision and supports our commitments under the 

UNCRC.  A task and finish group has therefore been considering the current 

eligibility criteria for practitioners, and I will receive that report in late November. 

 

1b. What has been the impact of the Measure on outcomes for people using 

primary mental health services? 

As part of the qualitative evidence base for reviewing the Measure local health 

boards have been asked to provide Welsh Government with the results of local 

surveys undertaken to assess satisfaction with LPMHSS services. Tools were 

developed with the assistance of practitioners, the Part 1 Expert Reference group 

and service users.  

Service User Satisfaction  

On average over 95% of service users across Wales positively rated the LPMHS 

services they had received (strongly agreed or partly agreed) across the 10 

questions.  

Service users also had an opportunity to comment on what was good about their 

care, what needed improving and any other comments. Some examples are given 

Annex 2. 

 

Pack Page 41



 
 

7 
 

Specifically: 

Question Average percentage of 

service users who 

positively rated 

services. 

The staff listened to me and took my concerns seriously 99% 

I felt I was treated with respect   99% 

The information I received was very helpful  

   

96% 

It is easy to get to the place where I have my appointment

      

97% 

The appointments are usually at a convenient time 

    

95% 

I felt involved in making choices about my care and/or 

treatment       

96% 

The service helped me cope with my problems  

   

89% 

I feel the people who have seen me are working together 

to help me       

94% 

The facilities are comfortable   96% 

I would recommend this service to other people 

 

97% 

 

The survey results indicate high levels of satisfaction amongst the majority of people 

receiving LPMHSS, and support the Gofal findings6 that though there is ground to be 

gained in the provision of mental health services at a primary care level, 

understanding, awareness and therefore the ability to receive the right level of 

service is improving.      

 

 

                                                           
6
 http://www.gofal.org.uk/news/2013/09/04/gofal-snapshot-survey-2013/ 

 

Pack Page 42

http://www.gofal.org.uk/news/2013/09/04/gofal-snapshot-survey-2013/


 
 

8 
 

Further Outcome Measures 

All local health board areas have stated they have agreed methods of evaluating the 

outcomes of their interventions. Local health boards and partners had previously 

decided they did not wish to use the same methods of evaluation across Wales. 

They have recently agreed to find ways of sharing this information in order for there 

to be a clearer understanding of the impact of this part of the Measure and these 

finding will inform the final Duty to Review report. I intend to keep this under review. 

Independent Commissioned Research  

A research project has also been commissioned from an independent body, Opinion 

Research Services (ORS) The research is being undertaken over the period, July 

2013 to October 2015 and considers all 4 main parts of the Measure from the 

perspective of service users, carers and practitioners. Integral to this will be the 

experience of Welsh speaking and bilingual service users and carers. This will add a 

key independent element to the evaluation of the Measure. The objectives of the 

research are set out in the Inception Report. A scoping report was published in April 

2014; its broad findings are referred to in the Interim report and can be found at 

Annex 3 

1c. What has been the impact of the Measure on care planning and support for 

people in secondary mental health services? 

The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 was created, in part, to respond to 

concerns from service users, their families and third sector organisations that Welsh 

Government guidance regarding the use of the Care Programme Approach was not 

being followed with any consistency. 

A Code of Practice to Parts 2 and 37 of the Measure was produced to support 

implementation, which began in June 2012. The Code was developed with the 

involvement of service users, practitioners and third sector organisation in Wales and 

in addition, independently produced learning resources for practitioners and service 

users were provided throughout Wales. 

In the Interim report the main findings were reported as: 

 All local health boards and their partners provided evidence they were 

compliant with the duty to review legal requirements of Part 2 and 3 of the 

Measure.  

 Performance information data suggested that 89.8% of those in need of a 

care and treatment plan had one that had been completed and/or reviewed in 

the previous 12 months. 

                                                           
7
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/part2/?lang=en 

Pack Page 43



 
 

9 
 

 Many of those in older adult, learning disability and child and adolescent 

mental health services did not previously have a specific mental health care 

plan. This landscape has changed significantly with reported compliance of 

over 90% in those areas.  

 Now that Care and Treatment Plans (CTP) were in place for most people, it 

would be critical to support all those involved in ensuring the quality of those 

plans and the interventions required to support them. This would need to be 

evaluated by service users, service providers and independent bodies.  

 There is some concern that certain practitioners are not able to undertake the 

care co-ordination role, for example art therapists, and that the actual words 

used in the prescribed care and treatment plan might not be suitable for all 

groups of service users.  

 A clear interface and communication process between primary and secondary 

services would be critical to ensure no service users fall through the „gap‟.  

 It is essential that those discharged from secondary mental health services 

and others involved in supporting them are aware of the provisions relating to 

discharge plans and method of re accessing services.  

 Services needed to ensure they have robust procedures in place to support 

timely re-access for assessment. 

Current quantitative performance information.  

As at August 2014, 91.8% of patients (set against the NHS Delivery framework 

target of 90%) had a valid CTP, reflecting an upward trend which demonstrates 

compliance with the Measure requirements has steadily increased (a valid CTP is 

one which has been completed within the last 12 months).  

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr-
13

May
-13

Jun-
13

Jul-
13

Aug-
13

Sep-
13

Oct-
13

Nov-
13

Dec-
13

Jan-
14

Feb-
14

Mar
-14

Apr-
14

May
-14

Jun-
14

Jul-
14

Aug-
14

% with a valid CTP 64% 74% 80% 84% 86% 87% 87% 88% 89% 90% 91% 92% 91% 91% 91% 91% 92%

% with a valid CTP/
alternative*

92% 93% 94%

% of Welsh residents, in receipt of secondary mental health services, 
with a valid care plan - All Wales 

*Post Jun-13 only CTPs are valid Care Plans 

Pack Page 44



 
 

10 
 

Barriers 

Some of the criticisms levelled at Part 2 of the Measure have also been the issues 

others have identified as its most positive features. That is, having a named care co-

ordinator and having a holistic prescribed care and treatment plan. Some 

psychiatrists have stated they have found the role of care co-ordinator one which 

they have not always felt qualified to undertake. This is being addressed via the 

training requirements which are being reviewed and joint work with Part 2 leads.   

A co produced training package was developed by the University of Lincoln and this 

training material has been made available to practitioners across Wales and specific 

training provided for those in Learning Disabilities Services.  A task and finish group, 

with representation from all stakeholders is currently considering care co-ordinator 

eligibility and the content and form of the prescribed Care and Treatment Plan. A 

practitioner led group is looking further at training requirements. 

1d. Has there been a change to the way in which service users in secondary 

mental health services are involved in their care and treatment 

Hafal, in their survey of people‟s experience of Care and Treatment Planning, found 

where people have been involved in the development of their own Care and 

Treatment Plans (CTP) they feel more empowered and more in control. Service 

users and carers have described the commitment and support they receive from 

health and social care professionals and how important and valued good CTPs are 

by service users.  

 

The quality of CTPs can vary, with some not always focused on achieving short and 

long term goals. There has been a range of comments from service users from those 

who had little or no involvement in completing their CTP to people being fully 

involved and invited to  co write their own plan. 

 

A recently convened working group is meeting in November 2014. It will seek: 

 

 Support from stakeholders to revise the Part 2 and 3 stocktake document 

specifically to consider the type, level of training and specific mechanisms 

needed to enable comment on the competency of staff and whether a specific 

training module in care co-ordination should be developed.  

 

 Support from stakeholders to consider satisfaction scales for Part 2 and 3 

services- there will be an expectation that information is provided on service 

users and carers‟ satisfaction with services. It is envisaged a template will be 

developed for potential use across Wales.  

 

Pack Page 45



 
 

11 
 

 Support from stakeholders to demonstrate that the legal requirements 

regarding Part 3 are being met (including compliance with timescales) – it is 

envisaged that a template to gather information to assure local health boards, 

Partners and Welsh Government will be developed.  

 

 Support from stakeholders specifically to consider how the quality of Care and 

Treatment planning can be demonstrated, developed and led (by, for 

example, engaging with psychiatrists and other leaders within particular 

services). 

 

The above will apply across all service areas and settings including, for example, the 

prison estate and older adult services. 

 

1e. What impact has the Measure had on service users’ ability to re-access 

secondary services?  Are there any barriers to achieving this? 

Currently all local health boards are reporting compliance with the standard set 

within the NHS Delivery Framework which states: 

 

Local Health Boards to provide assurance that: 

 

 Individuals are re-assessed in a timely manner as described in the Code of 

Practice to parts 2 and 3 ; and 

 A copy of a report to that individual is provided no later than 10 working days 

following the conclusion of the assessment in 100% of cases. 

 

Since April 2013 on average 105 service users have requested a re assessment of 

their mental health following discharge from services each month. Of these, on 

average, 43 have moved back into secondary mental health services. The 

independent research commissioned by Welsh Government will report on the 

experiences of service users, their carers and practitioners in relation to Part 3 

(arrangements for assessment of former users of secondary mental health services) 

and to consider, for example:  

• whether the relevant discharge period for Part 3 proving to be appropriate;  

 

• how well service users have been informed of their entitlement to assessment 

  following discharge;  

 

• the experience of reassessment.  

 

 

 

Pack Page 46



 
 

12 
 

Barriers 

It was initially reported there had been some confusion amongst a few people 

discharged from secondary services regarding their entitlement. The information 

about discharge and Part 3 being provided, at least for some people, was not being 

read or understood. It was suggested that written advice and information were 

insufficient and that real engagement person-to-person would be necessary for many 

service users and particularly those with limited literacy. 

 

The task and finish group for Part 3 is specifically looking at the age at which a 

person can request an assessment. Currently this provision only applies when a 

person is 18 or over. The UNCRC makes clear that children and young people must 

be given the same rights of access to services as any one else and this principle will 

be central to the review of this Part of the Measure. 

 

1f. To what extent has the Measure improved outcomes for people using 

secondary mental health services? 

All local health boards have formally confirmed they either have or are developing 

processes for ascertaining the satisfaction of service users and carers within 

secondary mental health services.   

 

Demonstrating outcomes from a service user lens is a key element of the mental 

health data set, central to „Together for Mental Health‟8. The selection of tools for 

assessing outcomes has involved wide consultation with stakeholders, starting with 

the views of service users themselves. This priority was established by Welsh 

Government in response to consultation on the Strategy and the Measure. 

 

The aim of this work is to enable service users to monitor and report upon the 

achievement of the outcomes agreed in their care and treatment plans. This will: 

 

•build on and complement Care and Treatment Planning with its focus on the 

co-  production of specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timely 

outcomes; 

 

•use an established, validated survey methodology that is easy to implement, 

analyse and interpret from the perspective of both the service user/carer and 

practitioner; 

 

•allow for comparison between service user self assessments and 

practitioner/therapist rated assessments so as to enable the future 

development of a robust system of outcome evaluation.  

                                                           
8
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/strategy/?lang=en  

Pack Page 47



 
 

13 
 

 

Public Health Wales 1000 Lives Plus Improvement Service has worked with the third 

sector and service user groups and it was agreed to pilot methodologies using Goal 

Attainment Scaling (GAS) and Goal Based Outcomes (GBO).Both GAS and GBO 

were piloted widely during 2013-14 across the range of mental health services for 

children and young people, working age and older adults, including primary mental 

health service settings and this led to adaption to the tools developed. 

  

Based on this learning, a „How to‟ guide has been prepared to support baseline 

training for implementation of these tools in relation to CTP. This also acknowledges 

the limitations on their use, for example for people with a cognitive impairment. 

Learning Disability services are currently piloting the Health Equalities Framework as 

their preferred approach to outcome evaluation.   

 

In implementation Phase 1, local health boards have been asked to implement GAS 

and GBOs, in teams across Wales, the details of which are being finalised. In 

September 2015, Public Health Wales will review the experiences of these teams in 

implementing these approaches and, based on their feedback, adjust the tools and 

their use accordingly. This will be key to addressing concerns which have been 

raised about there not being clear enough outcome based data. 

 

Barriers 

 

I am aware that the Royal College of Psychiatrists have commented some of their 

members consider the distinction between primary and secondary services to have 

been unhelpful. They have stated in some areas some people have been  „re-

labelled‟ and moved from secondary care services into primary care without due 

regard. My view is that decisions regarding the appropriate level of service provision 

should always be on the basis on clinical need. 

 

1g. To what extent has access to independent mental health advocacy been 

extended by the Measure, and what impact has this had on outcomes for 

service users?  Are there any barriers to extending access to independent 

mental health advocacy? 

Part 4 of the Measure expands the support available from an Independent Mental 

Health Advocate (IMHA) to inpatients receiving treatment for their mental disorder 

and those subject to the Mental Health Act 19839, and places the duty upon local 

health boards to provide such services.  

 

 

                                                           
9
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents 

 

Pack Page 48

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents


 
 

14 
 

By expanding statutory advocacy services to ensure that access is available to all 

inpatients receiving treatment for mental ill-health, whether subject to compulsion or 

not, Part 4 of the Measure seeks to ensure the rights of this often vulnerable group of 

patients are safeguarded. Statutory advocacy assists inpatients in making informed 

decisions about their care and treatment, and supports them in getting their voices 

heard. 

 

All local health boards in Wales have confirmed they have arrangements in place to 

ensure advocacy is available to qualifying patients. These have largely been 

developed using the National Commissioning Framework10 to work towards 

increasing parity of service across Wales. The Part 4 Commissioners meet on a 

regular basis to review their services and have developed effective working 

relationships with their providers. 

 

Each local health board has confirmed the IMHAs providing services meet the 

appointment requirements and this includes ensuring:  

 

 Adequate training/induction before practising as an IMHA and an expectation 

that all advocates will begin the specific advocacy qualification within specified 

time periods;  

 Patients have been informed of the health board‟s duty to provide them with 

an advocacy service in a number of ways and include: providing relevant 

settings with promotional materials: organising awareness raising sessions 

and providing an e-learning module.  

 Providing adequate translation services including Welsh and bilingual 

advocates, those trained in BSL and specific communication tools such as 

Talking Mats;  

 Advocacy awareness training being incorporated into mainstream Measure 

training and  

 A texting service being available to CAMHS in patients.  

 

Information regarding services provided under Part 4 has been collected since April 

2013. As with other performance information, the figures are indicative of emerging 

trends rather than a complete picture. Local health boards have confirmed that within 

their geographical area advocacy is provided in 100% of hospitals and 100% of 

IMHAs are trained to the required level.  

 

                                                           
10

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/health/guidance/advocacy/?lang=en 

Pack Page 49



 
 

15 
 

 
 

 

On average 368 people accessed IMHA services per month (April 2013 to March 

2014). Of these almost 53 % were patients who would not have received services 

prior to the introduction of the Measure. The provision of the expanded IMHA 

services has been reported by all stakeholders as a positive development including 

staff providing services and those receiving support.  

 

IMHA commissioners and providers have developed tools to demonstrate 

satisfaction with their services and this information is being reviewed.  There will be a 

need to collate the information regarding the impact upon service users and carers of 

the provision of the service both in terms of satisfaction and outcomes to inform the 

final duty to review report. The standardisation of quality through the qualification of 

advocates has helped ensure good practice.  

 

An all Wales collaborative approach has been developed between providers and 

commissioners to look at information, communication and training to raise 

awareness of IMHA services across all health boards. The aim is to provide a 

cohesive and equal service irrespective of setting and location.  

 

There have been particular benefits for patients who are deemed to have the 

capacity to agree to admission to hospital but in other regards are less likely to 

express their point of view; these patients have now been offered the support not 

previously available. Reports from staff on Learning Disability wards have specifically 

remarked upon improved care for patients receiving secondary mental health 

services as a direct result of the IMHA provision.  

qualifying
compulsory

patients

qualifying
informal /
voluntary
patients

Any other setting 10 0

Other NHS hospitals 0 23

Independent Mental Health
hospitals

22 1

NHS Mental Health hospitals 148 164

0

50

100

150

200

250

Average number of qualifying patients per month who accessed 
advocacy services in hospitals within Wales (April 2013 to March 2014) 

Pack Page 50



 
 

16 
 

Barriers 

There still appears to be a relatively low number of referrals for the IMHA service on 

general wards. It is unclear at this time whether this is because the service is not 

required, or because not all staff are aware of the entitlement, particularly in relation 

to cases of non-instructed advocacy. That is,  people eligible for IMHA services but, 

because of their mental ill health are not able to instruct an advocate.   

 

IMHA providers and commissioners have therefore been working to improve 

awareness of IMHA provisions. It has been more difficult for IMHA providers to 

ensure information is available on general wards. It is anticipated that this issue – the 

variability of the provision of information regarding the availability of IMHA services – 

will be addressed in the revision to the Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice for 

Wales which will be published in 2015.11  

1h.What impact has the Measure had on access to mental health services for 

particular groups, for example, children and young people, older people, ‘hard 

to reach’ groups? 

Data collected routinely by Welsh Government on the LPMHSS does not 

differentiate between particular age groups. However the focus on all aspects of 

mental health for all groups and the associated expectations has created a greater 

awareness of the needs of different groups. A specific plan for CAMHS has been 

developed which focuses on the needs of this group.  

It is also particularly important that services for older people are robust and effective. 

The number of older people with care and treatment plans has significantly improved 

since the introduction of the Measure. For older people, all health boards submitted 

figures from April 2013 where performance was 65.1%; it is now over 91%. 

Work undertaken by Gofal, supported by Welsh Government funding, and has 

sought to ensure „hard to reach‟ groups are aware of the Measure and its provisions.  

1i.To what extent has the Measure helped to raise the profile of mental health 

issues within health services and the development of services that are more 

sensitive to the needs of people with mental health problems? 

Service providers have informed us that the introduction of the Measure has 

significantly increased the profile of mental health services. Introducing a legal 

framework and associated targets has focussed the minds of organisations. It will be 

essential that this however is proportionate; service user led as far as possible and 

focusses on quality and not just quantity.  

                                                           
11

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=816&pid=33960  
 

Pack Page 51

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=816&pid=33960


 
 

17 
 

Ensuring a culture that is respectful and empowering will be essential not only to the 

sustainability of future services but also to their value and usefulness to the lives of 

people both delivering and receiving them. We are supporting organisations 

undertake this work via communities of practice, involving all relevant stakeholders 

and which applies across all service areas 

1j.To what extent has the implementation of the Measure been consistent 

across local health board areas? 

The written evidence to the Committee makes clear the broad support for the 

principles and aims of the Measure and the opportunity to improve and develop 

services and formalise good practice has been widely expressed. However, whilst 

the same legislation and guidance applies across Wales, local need and the 

previous configuration of services have influenced the implementation of the 

Measure.  

Over the past eighteen months there has been increasing compliance with the 

Measure requirements for Care and Treatment plans with greater consistency of 

provision. For example in April 2013 the compliance rate with CTPs was 63.8%. As 

of August 2014 it stood at 91.8%. 

The provision of IMHA services appears generally consistent and reflects the 

importance of this role. We will be taking the opportunity to stress the value of IMHA 

in the revision to the Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice in relation to all 

patients in hospital receiving treatment for their mental disorder who wish for such 

support. 

Part 1 services have probably reflected the greatest degree of variation. Local health 

boards and their partners are able to develop their individual schemes, which have 

given local health board areas the ability to design their LPMHSS services based 

upon local need. For example in Cardiff and the Vale, in addition to their individual 

assessments and interventions, they have invested in the provision of therapeutic 

groups.  In Hywel Dda they have developed specific in Cognitive Behavioural 

Therapy. There does remain some variation in the waiting times for assessment and 

interventions, organisations have consequently been asked to produce action plans 

to address this. These plans are expected by December 2014. 

1k.Overall, has the Measure led to any changes in the quality and delivery of 

services, and if so, how? 

The implementation of the Measure which is at the heart of the mental health 

strategy „Together for Mental Health‟ has started a fundamental change in the 

provision of mental health services in Wales.  

 

Pack Page 52



 
 

18 
 

The creation of the new LPMHSS, service users knowing exactly who their care co-

ordinator is and that they have the right to a care and treatment plan which is 

outcome focussed and considers the areas of life important to them will, if 

implemented effectively, improve the quality and delivery of services. 

The expanded IMHA service is having real benefits for people receiving treatment for 

their mental disorder in hospital. Commissioners and service providers, service users 

and their families, report how helpful they have found this service. It is perhaps 

particularly important for those in hospital informally who may because of their 

previous history  or fluctuating capacity to make decisions about their care have 

agreed to an informal admission but without  the safeguards provided by the Mental 

Health Act 198312.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
12

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents 
  

Pack Page 53

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents


 
 

19 
 

Theme 2 (lessons from the making and implementation of the legislation): 

2a. During scrutiny the scope of the Measure was widened from adult services 

to include services for children and young people.  What, if any, implications 

has this had for the implementation of the policy intentions set out in the 

Measure as it was proposed, and as it was passed by the Assembly? 

Whilst most sectors were supportive of the inclusion of young people and children, 

widening the scope of the Measure has presented some challenges. Some children 

and young people‟s services have said the eligibility criteria to both undertake 

assessment in LPMHSS and be a care co-ordinator have caused workforce 

difficulties as some of their staff, though experienced in aspect of CAMHS work, did 

not fulfil the eligibility criteria. Equally it has been argued the care and treatment plan 

is not always suitable for children. Each of these issues is being addressed by the 

task and finish groups referred to earlier in this report. 

It has however been very encouraging to see the numbers of children and young 

people with care and treatment plans consistently increase over time. For example in 

Cardiff and the Vale improving from 55% in April 2013 to over 95% by August 2014. 

The commitment to ensuring the right children and young people have a care plan 

that reflects their needs and goals is critical.  

2b. How effective were the consultation arrangements with stakeholders and 

service users during the development, scrutiny and implementation of the 

Measure? 

The stakeholders consulted in the development of the Mental Health (Wales) 

Measure 2010, the subordinate legislation and the Code of Practice for Part 2 and 3 

ranged from individual service users to national professional bodies.  

A wide variety of consultation arrangements, from interested party meetings with 

Welsh Government officials on specific issues, for example learning disability 

colleagues, to extensive public consultations with services users, carers, third sector 

agencies and statutory services were undertaken. It is of note most organisations 

have commented on the inclusiveness and effectiveness of the consultation process.  

The final shape of the Measure was influenced in several respects by input from 

stakeholders: for example the Measure as originally introduced, was intended only to 

apply to adult services; its expansion to include children and young people‟s services 

was a result of feedback from stakeholders, as was the Welsh Government‟s 

decision to retract its original proposal to expand the IMHA scheme to individuals 

detained under section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983. 

The way the consultation was constructed has formed the basis for future 

consultations; for example „Together for Mental Health‟.    

Pack Page 54



 
 

20 
 

Comprehensive and meaningful engagement with stakeholders presents all 

organisations with challenges, both in relation to the capacity of officials to attend 

events, and the logistics of enabling all service user voices to be heard across the 

geographic and demographic range. The use of social media and online discussion 

groups may be a useful way to address some of these issues in future. 

2c How effective were the consultation arrangements with stakeholders and 

service users during the development, making and implementation of the 

associated subordinate legislation and guidance? 

Similar engagement processes were used in the making of the subordinate 

legislation and guidance. Generally these have been accepted as useful and 

effective in ensuring a spectrum of citizen voices were heard, as well as professional 

and organisational view points. Over many issues there was broad agreement with 

both the principles and detail. Differing views regarding specific issues were raised, 

acknowledged, and ongoing input from stakeholders was pivotal in shaping the 

development of the care and treatment plan template and the Parts 2 and 3 Code.  

2d Has sufficient, accessible information been made available to service users 

and providers about the Measure and its implementation? 

A number of documents were made available to support the implementation of the 

Measure including a short one page bilingual leaflet on all Parts. 

Part 1: 

A National Service Model for local primary mental health support services13: 

guidance on how to achieve Part 1 duties, by: 

 outlining the functions and objectives of local primary mental health support 

services; 

 giving guidance on the requirements for the delivery of the services; and 

 the operational arrangements which are needed to support that delivery. 

Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 Policy Implementation Guidance on 'Local 

Primary Mental Health Support Services' and 'Secondary Mental Health Services14'  

Guidance to assist local health boards and local authorities in meeting their duties by 

providing advice on: 

                                                           
13

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/health/guidance/national/?lang=en 
14

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/health/guidance/measure/?lang=en 

Pack Page 55



 
 

21 
 

• What is meant by „local primary mental health support services‟ and „secondary 

mental health services‟ for the purposes of the Measure, and the subordinate 

legislation which underpins it. 

• The principles which informed the development of the Measure and the aims the 

legislation is seeking to achieve. 

• The types of services the Welsh Government would consider to be most 

appropriately delivered by local health boards and local authorities under Parts 1, 2 

and 3 of the Measure.   

Gofal as part of their grant funded work plan were also commissioned to ensure 

specific group, which could be deemed hard to reach were aware of the provisions of 

part 1  

Parts 2 and 3 

A Code of Practice for Parts 2 and 315 of the Measure was produced, and in addition, 

the University of Lincoln developed online resources and workbooks to assist care 

coordinators and others understand the Care and Treatment planning process. 

These have been widely disseminated and used. 

Hafal, as part of their work, produced „Care and Treatment planning16‟ a step by step 

guide for secondary mental health service users, which was launched by my 

predecessor.  This was widely disseminated both via third sector networks, Welsh 

Government and statutory bodies. 

Although there are clear requirements placed on secondary mental health services 

to inform those discharged from services of their right to request an assessment if 

they feel their mental health is deteriorating, I am aware that   concerns have been 

expressed that this has not always been done within the spirit of the Measure. That 

is a formal letter of discharge has been sent without a meaningful discussion 

regarding any signs of relapse to consider and clearly explaining the right to request 

a re assessment for the 3 years post discharge. 

Work with the leads for Parts 2 and 3 is currently underway to address this issue, 

and I expect health boards to be able to demonstrate the same assurance on these 

aspects of the Measure, that they currently give  in relation to their Tier 1 targets on 

a monthly basis. 

 

                                                           
15

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/part2/?lang=en 
16

 
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.hafal.org/pdf/Care_and_Treatment_Planning_1.pdf&rct=j&frm
=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=ebhQVPD7DqKa7gbq04DwBw&ved=0CBgQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNF9EO3xEfAOMzh8-
JvTSoVGrBjUnw 

Pack Page 56



 
 

22 
 

Part 4 

Delivering the independent mental health advocacy service in Wales: Guidance for 

independent mental health advocacy providers and local health board advocacy 

service planners17  

 Advises on how to proceed in planning and provision of such services under the 

1983 Act as amended by Part 4 of the Measure. 

 Will also be useful to other advocacy providers, including those who would wish to 

provide services in the future. 

 Replaces the Mental Health Act 1983 IMHA Guidance: Commissioning the 

independent mental health advocate service. 

 

IMHA providers have produced a wide range of leaflets, guides and posters to inform 

patients about their services. 

Information regarding all Parts of the Measure is available on the Welsh Government 

website, as well as that contained on individual health boards‟ sites. 

2e How effective was the support and guidance given to service providers in 

relation to the implementation of the Measure, for example in relation to 

transition timescales, targets, staff programmes etc.? 

In addition to the guidance referred to above extra support was made available from 

both Welsh Government and Public Health Wales to support the implementation of 

the Measure. Given that Part 1 services particularly required a remodelling of 

existing provision in order to set up the new LPMHSS additional funding was 

provided to employ a specific Part 1 lead for each local health board. This was 

supported by an all Wales national lead for Part 1, Barbara Bowness. 

Revised City and Guilds training materials were also provided for IMHA, ensuing that 

they reflected not only the Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice for Wales but 

also the new requirements of the Measure. All local health boards have confirmed 

they have suitably qualified IMHAs. 

2f Did any unforeseen issues arise during the implementation of the Measure? 

If so, were they responded to effectively? 

The learning disability community raised concerns regarding the requirement for 

Care and Treatment Plans for all of their service users. This related to the wording of 

the Measure in relation to treatment for a mental disorder. A learning disability can 

be described as a mental disorder.  

                                                           
17

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/health/guidance/advocacy/?lang=en 

Pack Page 57



 
 

23 
 

It was never the intention of the Measure that all those individuals with a learning 

disability would require to a CTP but rather that those with a learning disability who 

were receiving secondary mental health services should have the same rights 

regarding CTP and care co-ordination as those without a learning disability. 

A working group was convened and extra training provided. Whilst it has taken time 

for services to ensure that the right people are in receipt of CTPs, an informed and 

constructive process has resulted. I have seen the types of CTP being provided for 

those with a learning disability and I have been impressed by the work that has been 

undertaken. 

2g Are there any lessons which could be learned or good practice which 

should be shared, for the development and implementation of other 

legislation? 

Balancing the desire for consistency, the difficulties with a one size fits all approach 

and ensuring there is sufficiently flexibility to ensure services can respond to a 

diversity of mental health need is a challenge that will face all those who develop and 

implement legislation. 

On the one hand it is difficult accurately to assess outcomes for service users 

without some consistency of process and on the other flexibility is needed to meet 

clinical need, a matter that has always been central to mental health provision.  This 

balance however is one leads from all the health boards and their partners are 

looking to achieve through the national implementation group. This group as been 

able to support practitioners on the ground deliver services within the sprit of the 

Measure. Legalisation and performance targets have increased the profile of mental 

health services. The focus going forward must be on outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 58



 
 

24 
 

Theme 3 (value for money): 

3a Were assumptions made in the Regulatory Impact Assessment about the 

demand for services accurate?  Were there any unforeseen costs, or savings? 

When the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) was completed it drew information 

from a variety of sources and also addressed the likely consequences of not 

providing a new legislative framework to support the provision of mental health 

services in Wales. 

You will be aware from the written evidence you have received that some 

stakeholders have commented that the introduction of children and young people 

into the Measure provision was not adequately assessed and I know from listening to 

the providers of CAMHS that this has been of concern to them. We have therefore 

produced the CAMHS action plan and asked the strategy lead for Together for 

Mental Health to have a particular focus on these services in the next 12 months. 

Dame Sue Bailey, Professor and previous president of the Royal College of 

Psychiatrists has also agreed to take a leadership role in the development of 

services going forward. 

Part 1 

Most services in Wales have not integrated the previous provision of primary care 

services for children and young people into the LPMHSS. However they have or are 

developing effective mechanisms which give clarity to the referral pathways. We 

were always clear that the new LPMHSS should provide additional services. 

The growing awareness of our citizens that discussing mental health is becoming 

acceptable is likely to have an impact on the demand for services and I am fully 

supportive of the Time for Change campaign which seeks to reduce sigma and 

discrimination. If this leads to fewer people suffering in silence and increased 

referrals then this must be positive. The other major factor however must be the 

impact of this time of austerity and particular the welfare reforms. How services 

respond to these challenges will be critical. I am aware that in many areas LPMHSS 

have led the way in designing, developing and delivering Tier 0 services 

It is also expected the impact of LPMHSS staff being available to advise and inform 

GPs and their staff about mental health will improve services at primary care level. 

Part 2 

The RIA anticipated that generally the cost of placing into a legal framework what 

should already have been good practice should have been cost neutral and indeed 

in teams and organisation where the principles and ethos behind care and treatment 

planning were already in place the impact on services has been relatively small.  

Pack Page 59



 
 

25 
 

It is however of note that for some professionals and services completing the CTP 

has been challenging. It is anticipated that shared learning and training will embed 

into everyday practice the principles behind the Measure. I welcome the joint 

initiatives between the Royal College of Psychiatrists, Part 2 leads and the third 

sector organisations in developing effective audit tools and a further focus on 

outcomes. 

Part 3 

The numbers of individual referring themselves back for re assessment remains 

fairly small and the demand for these services does not appear to be having any 

adverse impact on services and at the same time has offered the safety net for those 

discharged. 

Part 4 

The numbers of informal patients currently receiving IMHA services is somewhat 

lower than was expected in the RIA. However the numbers are increasing as more 

people become aware of the service available. 

3b Have sufficient resources been allocated to secure the effective 

implementation of the Measure? 

Allied to the anticipated demand for services and change in practice is the issue of 

resources. The current demand for service is broadly in line with that expected. The 

uptake of services however will need continued monitoring to ensure that future 

demand can be met. At this point it is not possible accurately to estimate the impact 

of other legislative frameworks, for example the increase in the number of people 

who following a Supreme Court Judgment are now considered to have their liberty 

deprived and may, if appropriate, need to be assessed under the Mental Health Act 

1983 and therefore eligible for support from an IMHA.  

3c What has been the impact of the Welsh Government’s policy of ring-fencing 

the mental health budget on the development of services under the Measure? 

A review of the policy of ring fencing the mental health budget is currently underway 

and this will consider its impact on the development of services under the Measure. 

3d What work has been done to assess the costs of implementing the 

Measure, and to assess the benefits accruing from the Measure? 

The cost of the Measure was set out in the RIA. This ring fenced money was 

distributed to local health boards in order for them to provide the additional services 

required as a result of the development of LPMHSS and the enhanced IMHA 

service.  

Pack Page 60



 
 

26 
 

3e Does the Measure represent value for money, particularly in the broader 

economic context?  What evidence do you have to support your view? 

The impact of mental health problems on our economy is significant. In 2010 the 

Mental Health Foundation18 stated the cost to Wales was £7.2 billion.  Investing in 

services that provide timely assessment and intervention much earlier must be a 

sensible and prudent way to ensure we do all we can to reduce the impact of mental 

health problems. Having Care and Treatment Plans for those in secondary services 

that are holistic and focus on recovery will also prove an investment in individuals 

that will be to benefit of all. Equally ensuring the most vulnerable in out society are 

provided with advocacy at a time when they may most need it is more than value for 

money, it is an investment in our citizens. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
18

 www.mentalhealth.org.uk/.../MHF-Business-case-for-MH-research-Nov2010. pdf 

Pack Page 61



 
 

27 
 

ANNEX 1: Further Background 

The Measure Objectives  

 

The intention of the Measure was to provide:  

 

 local primary mental health support services at an earlier stage than was 

previously the case in many parts of Wales (Part 1);  

 

 all individuals accepted into secondary mental health services with a care   

coordinator and a Care and Treatment Plan ( Part 2);  

 

 those discharged from secondary mental health services with the ability to 

request reassessment when they believe their mental health may be 

deteriorating ( Part 3);  

 

 extended statutory mental health advocacy provision beyond that required 

under the Mental Health Act 1983 (Part 4).  

 

It was designed to achieve these intentions by:  

 

 providing an assessment of an individual‟s mental health and, where 

appropriate, treatment of an individual‟s mental disorder within primary care, 

by establishing a duty for local health boards  and local authorities to deliver 

primary mental health support services across Wales (Part 1); 

 

 instituting statutory requirements around care and treatment planning and 

care coordination within secondary mental health services (Part 2);  

 

 

ensure the provision of timely access to assessment for previous service 

users (Part 3);  

 

 extending the groups of „qualifying patients‟ under the Mental Health Act 1983 

entitled to receive support from an Independent Mental Health Advocate 

(IMHA), to informal/voluntary patients as well as the majority of patients 

subject to the formal powers of that Act.  

 

Subsequent to the making of the Measure in 2010 significant subordinate legislation 

has been made and additional guidance issued to support the implementation of the 

services required19.  

                                                           
19

 Further details of subordinate information and guidance can be found at 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en 

Pack Page 62

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/nhswales/healthservice/mental-health-services/measure/?lang=en


 
 

28 
 

 

Duty to Review the Measure  

 

The Explanatory Memorandum20 to the Measure stated:  

 

“Benefits for service users, their families and carers will consist of:  

 

• improved access to services within primary and secondary care, measured 

for example by number and range of primary mental health support services 

available and number of service users assessed and treated within these;  

 

• improved experience for service users, families and carers, measured for 

example by increased satisfaction with services;  

 

• improved involvement of service users in decision making around their care 

and treatment, measured for example by improved satisfaction with care 

planning and engagement with advocacy services.  

 

improved provision of Welsh Language services by supporting access to 
assessment, treatment and advocacy in the service user‟s language of 
need/choice.” 

 

Benefits in the provision and use of services provided under the legislation will 

consist of:  

 improved delivery of services within primary and secondary care;  

 

 reductions in referrals to secondary care which are not accepted because 

such services are not appropriate;  

 

 improved availability and accessibility of independent trained and dedicated 

advocacy services within mental health inpatient settings.”  

 

These benefits will be reviewed in a number of ways including:  

 

• commissioned research into the use of primary and secondary mental health 

services;  

• commissioned research into the use, accessibility and delivery of advocacy 

services;  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
   
20

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/opendoc/194855&rct=j&frm=1&q
=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=WJxHVOrkFeqy7Qbc4IHACg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFEgNx-
gQDJ8v7Ut79V_if27fiWtg 
 

Pack Page 63

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/opendoc/194855&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=WJxHVOrkFeqy7Qbc4IHACg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFEgNx-gQDJ8v7Ut79V_if27fiWtg
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/opendoc/194855&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=WJxHVOrkFeqy7Qbc4IHACg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFEgNx-gQDJ8v7Ut79V_if27fiWtg
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/opendoc/194855&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=WJxHVOrkFeqy7Qbc4IHACg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFEgNx-gQDJ8v7Ut79V_if27fiWtg


 
 

29 
 

statistical returns and management information derived from existing operational and 
financial systems, most typically the annual statistical returns relating to use of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 and the Patient Episode Database for Wales.” 

 

The Measure, which lies at the heart of the current mental health strategy, Together 

for Mental Health applies to all ages and all groups of society across Wales. 

ANNEX 2.  

Service user‟s comments regarding Local Primary Mental Health Support Services.  

What was good?  

 It was an opportunity to talk about my problems and find ways of coping.  

 I wasn‟t judged and felt that I was listened too and understood.  

 I now feel more in control. I feel I can look forward and more positively.  

 The course was led by a very informative person, was delivered well and 
helped me gain coping strategies for when my moods become low. I felt very 
comfortable speaking about my problems and questions I had were answered 
well.  

 Before I was involved with the service I only felt like half a person and lost my 
independence, but now I feel more confident and got my life back. Thanks to 
you.  

What needed improving?  

 Not enough time in appointments to discuss everything. Longer appointments 
please.  

 More one to one therapies – groups are not suitable for everyone.  

Other comments  

 I couldn‟t rearrange my appointment to a more convenient time because there 
was only some available one day a week.  

GP comments regarding Local Primary Mental Health Services. 

What was good?  

 Good communication.  

 Approachable clinician.  

 Practice based service is accessible.  

 High quality, consistent service.  

 Easy referral system.  

 Positive response in dealing with complex patients.  

 Clear guidance for patients and colleagues.  

 Patients value being able to see a practitioner in the surgery.  
 
What needed improving?  

 Waiting times are far too long.  

Pack Page 64



 
 

30 
 

 More services needed for eating disorders.  

 Too many unfilled appointments in the surgery…high DNA rate.  
 
Other comments  

 Communication can always be improved.  
 
 
ANNEX 3 
 
ORS Scoping report  
 
Some initial findings from the report are described below:  
 
Part 1  
 

 teams are generally based in GP practices or in community-based clinics, the 
location of services in non-mental health community settings is considered to 
be beneficial for service users;  

 

 the importance of taking the time to recruit and train the right staff has been 
highlighted;  

 

 continuing liaison with GPs is seen as a priority to ensure that GPs are 
supported in making appropriate referral decisions;  

 

 it was felt that Tier 0 services, and effective referral to such services by GPs 
or by direct service user access, serve to ease the pressures for assessment 
experienced by LPMHSS and focus attention on service users requiring more 
expert attention from the teams.  

 
Part 2  
 

 the importance of continuous training and staff development was 
acknowledged and particularly training about the Measure; in Care and 
Treatment Plans (CTP) and the recovery planning approach;  

 

 some consultees argued that a medical model of care persists in some areas 
and then practice is neither recovery nor outcome focused and therefore 
takes little account of the social care needs of service users. „To make the 
recovery process work as embodied in the Measure, there is a need to take 
positive risks with service users by allowing them to lead the process. 
However, this requires a complete change of culture‟ 

 

 some consultees pointed out that there can be a tendency for care 
coordinators to only deal with areas of the CTP which they consider are within 
their areas of expertise. Furthermore, some mentioned that formalising care 
planning through legislation and the introduction of increasing scrutiny has led 
to anxiety amongst staff and that some are unwilling to take on the care 

Pack Page 65



 
 

31 
 

coordinator role. The timescales and targets for CTPs were considered by 
some to have placed pressure on staff to the detriment of quality.  

  
 
Part 3: 
 

 some consultees had witnessed confusion amongst a few people discharged 
from secondary services. If information about discharge and Part 3 is being 
provided, it appears that at least for some people, it is not being read or 
understood. Consultees suggested that written advice and information is 
insufficient and that real engagement person-to-person would be necessary 
for many service users and particularly those with limited literacy. 

 
 
Part 4: 
 

 these services are being delivered through contracts with four advocacy 
providers across Wales. Some consultees said that there should be more 
advocates working in general hospital settings and that more promotion is 
needed to increase uptake. 

 
 

Pack Page 66



Pack Page 68

Agenda Item 5.1



 

 

  

Ffon/Tel:  029 2082 3911   
Parc Cathays, Caerdydd CF10 3NQ Cathays Park, Cardiff CF10 3NQ 

Ebost/Email:ruth.hussey@wales.gsi.gov.uk                         
  

 
Dr Ruth Hussey OBE  
Prif Swyddog Meddygol/Cyfarwyddwr Meddygol, GIG Cymru 
Chief Medical Officer/Medical Director NHS Wales 
 

 

 
 

David Rees AM 

Chair, Health and Social Care Committee 

4th November 2014 
 

 

Dear David 
 

I refer to your letter of 24th October, requesting information regarding the proposed 

‘Primary Care Plan’. 
 

The Deputy Minister for Health, on behalf of the Minister for Health and Social 

Services, will be publishing the Welsh Government’s plan for a primary care service for 
Wales on 6 November.  This sets out an initial set of actions to reform our primary 

care system to meet the challenges of austerity and changing health needs.  It is an 

‘enabling’ framework, to 2018, underpinned by the principles of prudent healthcare, 

within which we will work with the health boards and the wide spectrum of health 
professionals and others involved in primary care to build on the good progress and 

work to date. 

 
 

Yours sincerely 

 
 

 

 

 

DR RUTH HUSSEY OBE 

Pack Page 69

Agenda Item 5.2



 

Mark Drakeford AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

                Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford @wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

Ein cyf/Our ref: MB/MD/4598/14 
 
 

 
David Rees AM 
Chair 

Health and Social Care Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 

 
HSCCommittee@wales.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Dear 

 
 
 

 
 
 

D 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 
 
Dear David 
 
I welcome the report produced by the Health and Social Care Committee following its 
inquiry into the NHS Complaints process in Wales. I am grateful for the evidence that the 
inquiry has provided which very much builds on, and endorses the findings and 
recommendations from the review undertaken by Mr Keith Evans: “Using the Gift of 
Complaints”.  
 
As you will be aware I was anxious that all parties had the opportunity to reflect on the 
report in more detail following its publication. I therefore ensured a period of reflection over 
the summer to enable this. Respondents for the most part welcomed and supported the 
conclusions and recommendations.  There were calls for the NHS to take a more open and 
honest approach to complaints and for staff to be supported to deal with complaints at 
source.  There were calls for clear information around the complaints process and the 
opportunity for complainants to speak to someone face to face about their complaint.  The 
importance of learning the lessons from complaints was seen as critical. 
 
I have considered this carefully, together with the evidence and conclusions of the 
committee report, which has very much informed my thinking and overall response to the 
report. I intend to issue a detailed written statement shortly to set out the next steps in 
taking the review forward.  In the meantime, I will address some of the issues raised by the 
Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
13 November  2014 
 

Pack Page 70

Agenda Item 5.3

mailto:HSCCommittee@wales.gov.uk


A number of the conclusions drawn by the committee focused very much on improvements 
that can, and do need to be made without delay. I would like to assure the committee that 
action has already been taken where this is the case. I made it clear in July that there were 
some recommendations that should be acted upon immediately.  The NHS Wales Chief 
Executive wrote out to all chief executives stressing this point.  These actions included: 
ensuring sufficient complaints resource to meet demand; improvements to timeliness of 
responses; senior and executive leadership in the complaints process; more visible 
reporting of complaints themes, actions and responsiveness at Board level.  I am pleased 
that the National Quality and Safety Forum (NQSF) have agreed that this should be a key 
focus of its work in the coming months. It has already established a number of work streams 
to take forward the work. I am anxious to ensure a consistent approach across NHS Wales. 
 
I am considering what elements could perhaps be undertaken on a national basis and I 
welcome the committee’s contribution on this aspect. There is also clearly more to be done 
to embed the arrangements effectively within primary care. The committee raised the issue 
of the possible creation of a tier 1 priority in relation to complaints.  Concerns handling is 
already a regular feature of meetings with local health boards and trusts and will be 
included in the revised NHS Outcomes Framework.  

I agree that the role of Community Health Councils (CHCs) in the complaints process must 
be clear. The current consultation on changes to CHCs and the regulations that underpin 
their work, seek to strengthen their advocacy role through standards to be set by the Board 
of CHCs in Wales. Such standards would aim to improve the professional operation of the 
service. With regard to the role of HIW in the complaint’s process,  I am awaiting the 
outcome of the HW Review being led by Ruth Marks and any recommendations that she 
may make in this regard. I agree that there needs to be a greater understanding of the role 
HIW play in the overall process. 

Finally there were a number of recommendations that are longer term in nature and which 
could  require new legislation such as the introduction of an independent national NHS 
complaints regulator. I note the committee’s conclusion that alternative mechanisms for 
independent regulation of complaints handling are needed. I will keep this in mind as the 
work progresses but believe there is much that can be done to improve the existing 
arrangements in the first instance. 
 
I hope this is helpful and I would again like to thank the committee for its contribution to this 
important area of work.    
 

 
 
Mark Drakeford AC / AM 

Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 
 

Pack Page 71



To: Health and Social Care Committee 

From: Policy and Legislation Committee Service 

Meeting date: 20 November 2014 

Health and Social Care Committee Forward Work Programme: 

spring term (January – March 2015) 

Purpose 

1. This paper invites Members to note the Health and Social Care 

Committee timetable attached at Annex A.  

Background  

2. Attached at Annex A is a copy of the Health & Social Care Committee’s 

timetable from January to March 2015. 

3. The timetable is published as an aid to Assembly Members and any 

members of the public who may wish to be aware of the Committee’s 

forward work programme. A document of this kind will be published by 

the Committee at regular intervals.  

4. The timetable is subject to change and may be amended at the 

Committee’s discretion.  

Recommendation  

5. The Committee is invited to note the work programme at Annex A. 

  

Pack Page 72

Agenda Item 5.4



Annex A: Committee timetable for spring term 2015 

Thursday 15 January 2015 (morning and afternoon) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: evidence from the Member 

in Charge
1

 (public) 

- General scrutiny session with the Older People’s Commissioner: 

consideration of draft output (private) 

Wednesday 21 January 2015 (morning only) 

- Inquiry into new psychoactive substances (“legal highs”): consideration 

of draft report (private) 

- Engagement activity to inform the inquiry into alcohol and substance 

misuse (private) 

Thursday 29 January 2015 (morning and afternoon) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: oral evidence sessions 

(public) 

Wednesday 4 February 2015 (morning only) 

- Inquiry into alcohol and substance misuse: oral evidence sessions 

(public) 

Thursday 12 February 2015 (morning and afternoon) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: oral evidence sessions 

(public) 

                                       
1 The Business Committee wrote to the Health and Social Care Committee on 11 November 

2014 to indicate that it intended to refer the Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill to the 

Health and Social Care Committee for Stage 1 scrutiny, and to seek the Committee’s views 

on the proposed timetable.  The Committee wrote back to the Business Committee on 14 

November to indicate that it was content with the proposed timetable.  The Committee is 

anticipating considering its approach to Stage 1 scrutiny on 10 December 2014, and may 

update its outline work programme as a result. 

Pack Page 73



Monday 16 February– Sunday 22 February 2015: recess 

Wednesday 25 February 2015 (morning only) 

- Inquiry into alcohol and substance misuse: oral evidence sessions 

(public) 

Thursday 5 March 2015 (morning and afternoon) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: evidence from the Minister 

for Health and Social Services (public) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: evidence from the Member 

in Charge (public) 

- Social Services Regulations and Inspection (Wales) Bill: 

consideration of approach to Stage 1 scrutiny2 (private) 

Wednesday 11 March 2015 (morning only) 

- Inquiry into alcohol and substance misuse: oral evidence sessions 

(public) 

Thursday 19 March 2015 (morning and afternoon) 

- General and financial scrutiny session with the Minister for Health and 

Social Services and the Deputy Minister for Health (public) 

- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: consideration of key issues 

(private) 

Wednesday 25 March 2015 (morning only) 

- Social Services Regulation and Inspection (Wales) Bill: evidence 

from the Minister for Health and Social Services (public) 

                                       
2 Time has been allocated in the Committee’s work programme on the assumption that the 

Social Services Regulation and Inspection (Wales) Bill will be introduced in early February and 

that it will be referred to the Committee for Stage 1 scrutiny.  Should the Bill be introduced 

earlier or later, the Committee’s work programme will be updated accordingly. 

Pack Page 74



- Safe Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Bill: consideration of draft 

report (private) 

Pack Page 75


	Agenda
	1 The Committee's forward work programme
	3 Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: factual briefing from Welsh Government officials
	HSC(4)-28-14 HSC Committee Brief (Annex B)
	HSC(4)-28-14 Paper 2
	HSC(4)-28-14 Paper 2 (Annex B)

	4 Post-legislative scrutiny of the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010: Ministerial scrutiny session
	HSC(4)-28-14 Paper 3

	5.1 Scrutiny of the Minister for Health and Social Services and the Deputy Minister for Health: additional information from the Minister for Health and Social Services
	5.2 General scrutiny session with the Chief Medical Officer: additional information from the Chief Medical Officer
	5.3 Inquiry into the NHS complaints process: additional information from the Minister for Health and Social Services
	5.4 The Committee's forward work programme

